STABILITY ANALYSIS OF SPHERICALLY SYMMETRIC SPACE-TIME SOURCED BY ANISOTROPIC FLUIDS



A thesis submitted towards partial fulfilment of BS-MS Dual Degree Programme

by

BHAVESH KHAMESRA

under the guidance of

Dr. Suneeta Vardarajan

Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Pune

Certificate

This is to certify that this thesis entitled "The Stability Analysis of Spherically Symmetric Spacetime sourced by Anisotropic Fluids" submitted towards the partial fulfilment of the BS-MS dual degree programme at the Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Pune represents original research carried out by Bhavesh Khamesra at IISER Pune, under the supervision of Dr. Suneeta Vardarajan during the academic year 2013-2014.

Student Bhavesh Khamesra Supervisor Dr. Suneeta Vardarajan

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude towards Dr. Suneeta Vardarajan for mentoring me, advising me and guiding me. She has always encouraged me to pursue career of my interest, gave me a lot of freedom to work and helped me with her rational advices and experiences. I am thankful to her for rectifying my mistakes, bearing with me when I used to bug her with my random visits, clearing my misconceptions and teaching me all that I know of this subject. It would not have been possible for me to be in this field without her constant guidance and motivation.

I would also like to thank Dr. Arjun Bagchi for generously sparing time and giving insightful comments and advices. I am grateful to Amruta for her invaluable assistance with this work, solving many of my doubts and checking my calculations. Discussions with her turned up to be the most fruitful at the times when I was stuck while working on this project. I am also indebted to Haritej and Aashay for not only helping me with this work but also motivating me from time to time and distracting me for essential coffee breaks, without which this project could never have moved forward. I would also like to thank Varun and Shibananda for helping me with LATEX.

I am thankful to my family for supporting, trusting me, and encouraging me at all times. And finally, I would like to thank all my friends specially Aditi, Adwiteey, Akash, Aniket, Ankita, Ashok, Avani, Deepika, Mihir, Purvi, Punya, Rohit, Siddhartha, Shivraj for always helping me, cheering me in my tough times, irritating me, tolerating me, supporting me in all possible ways, and always being there for me. Past five years couldn't have been more enjoyable and memorable without them.

I would also like to express my gratitude towards KVPY and IISER Pune for supporting this project.

Abstract

In this work, we analyze the stability of spherically symmetric spacetimes sourced by perfect and anisotropic fluids under a class of gravitational perturbations. This has been done in a gauge-invariant formalism developed by Ishibashi and Kodama, where the perturbation equations are written in terms of manifestly gauge-invariant variables. We study axial perturbations of such spacetimes. The perturbation equations reduce to a single master equation and the equations for conservation of the energy momentum tensor. As is well-known, axial perturbations do not excite the fluid perturbations when the source is a perfect fluid. We review this result and then show that when the fluid is anisotropic, this is still true provided the vector defining the direction of anisotropy is constant under the perturbation. Finally we conclude by taking a specific example of a spacetime sourced by an anisotropic fluid and analyzing the axial perturbations of this spacetime.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	4		
2	Gra	vitational Perturbations	7		
	2.1	Why Study Perturbations	7		
	2.2	Perturbation types	8		
	2.3	Notation and Convention	8		
		2.3.1 Background Geometry	9		
		2.3.2 Decomposition Theorems	10		
		2.3.3 Solving Gauge Ambiguity	11		
3	Flu	ids 1	4		
	3.1	Classification of Fluids	14		
	3.2	Stress Energy Tensor	14		
	3.3	Conservation Law	16		
	3.4	Energy Conditions	19		
		3.4.1 Weak Energy Condition	20		
		3.4.2 Null Energy Condition	20		
		3.4.3 Strong Energy Condition	20		
		3.4.4 Dominant Energy Condition	21		
4	Perfect Fluids 23				
	4.1	Background Spacetime	23		
	4.2	Background Einstein equations	24		
	4.3	Perturbed Einstein Equations and Master Equation	26		
5	Ani	sotropic Fluids 2	29		
	5.1	Energy Momentum Tensor	29		
	5.2	Energy Conditions	29		
	5.3	Conservation Law	32		
	5.4	Perturbed Einstein Equations	34		

6	Exa	mple of an anisotropic spacetime and its axial perturba-
	tion	15 36
	6.1	Background Spacetime
	6.2	Master Equation
		6.2.1 Regge Wheeler Equation
		6.2.2 Equation for Ω in Schrödinger form $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 39$
	6.3	Nature of the Solution
	Con	clusion 1
	Ref	erences 2

Chapter 1

Introduction

Stability analysis under gravitational perturbations has been studied widely in relativity, astrophysics and cosmology. It comes as a useful tool in the study the interior structure of star, its stability and evolution with time. While the study of radial perturbations provides insights about the global stability or instability which may be the cause of stellar collapse, the study of non radial perturbations is used in the resolution of the problem of gravitational waves by non stationary sources [1].

The study of stellar perturbations is of special interest in relativity and astrophysics. A large amount of literature exist which presents and analyze various stellar models and their gravitational collapse situation. Some of most successful stellar models were found with perfect fluids sources. Unlike the dust case, perfect fluids models can predict static spherically symmetric solutions. Such models can be used to model the interior of the neutron stars [2]. Also, perfect fluid models are easier to model due to the high symmetry involved which simplifies the equations to a great extent. Stellar perturbations of stars sourced by perfect fluids have been studied in a great detail, a detailed account can be found in the works of Chandrasekhar [3].

In the course of development of these stellar models, it was realized that static spherically symmetric models can also occur with other fluids. Using an anisotropic fluid with zero radial pressure and non zero angular pressure, equal in both the directions, it was shown in [4] that a static spherically symmetric solution can exist. Such fluid model was also used to analyze the gravitational collapse scenarios in [5] in which a general class of equilibrium solutions were obtained as the result of the gravitational collapse. The issue still remains about their stability. In this work, we explore such spacetime sourced by anisotropic fluid and study about their stability. We consider special anisotropic fluids in which radial pressure differs from angular pressures, which are both equal.

We analyze the stability of these spacetimes under gravitational perturbations. Such an analysis was first done by Regge and Wheeler, who developed the general formalism to analyze the stability of the Schwarzschild spacetime [6]. However, a major problem with such method is the ambiguity in gauge choice. All the observables derived from these theories should be completely independent of the coordinate system the theory is formulated in. A remedy to this problem came from the formalism developed by Gerlach and Sengupta [7], [8], [9] who presented a gauge invariant structure of linearized Einstein equations and Conservation equations for polar and axial perturbations of spherically symmetric spacetime. Mukohyama [10] developed the gauge invariant formalism for maximally symmetric spacetimes including Anti-de Sitter spacetime. This formalism was further developed in a series of papers by Ishibashi and Kodama where they extended the Regge Wheeler master equation to higher dimensions [11].

The study of spacetimes sourced by anisotropic fluids is of special relevance in various spheres. The theoretical interest arises in the study of their stability and to see the degree of variation from the perfect fluid case. It also has applications in astrophysics to model the anisotropies occurring in fluids in the interior of the stars. Such anisotropies cannot be studied with perfect fluid stellar models and need an anisotropic counterpart. Apart from relativity and astrophysics, anisotropic spacetime have been studied in particle physics in the study of the instability associated with anisotropic quark-gluon plasma at weak and strong couplings [12]. There has also been studies to obtain the solutions of anisotropic black branes in the asymptotically Anti-de Sitter spacetime [13].

In this work, we focus on the axial perturbations of a general spherically symmetric stellar model sourced by anisotropic fluids. We present the Einstein equations and the Conservation laws in the gauge invariant form and using these we develop a masters equation for this case. It has earlier been shown that the intricately coupled perturbed Einstein equations can be reduced to simple ordinary differential equations for stationary vacuum black holes [6]. Such a reduction is also possible for perfect fluid stellar models under axial perturbations as the fluid does not excite the axial perturbations [3]. In this work, we show that fluid perturbations, preserving the anisotropy direction, are completely independent of metric perturbations for anisotropic fluids. We further show that equation for axial perturbation in this case reduces to a linear partial differential equation for a function and by employing a suitable ansatz we can reduce it to a simple looking Schrodinger equation. As an example we analyze a specific anisotropic spacetime containing a naked singularity spacetime as (in)stability of naked singularity is a problem of interest in view of cosmic censorship.

In the next chapter we first develop the gauge invariant formalism for a spherically symmetric spacetime. This is continued in chapter 3 with a introduction to fluids in which we give a brief description of fluids, the conservation law and the energy conditions. In chapter 4, we find the master equation for perfect fluid case as a demonstration of the gauge invariant formalism. In chapter 5 we discuss the anisotropic fluid case and obtain the gauge invariant master equation for the perturbations. We discuss an example of naked singularity spacetime sourced by anisotropic fluid.

Chapter 2

Gravitational Perturbations

2.1 Why Study Perturbations

Einstein's General theory of relativity is one of the most successful theories of gravity. It has made many novel predictions completely replacing its classical counterpart. However, some of these predictions are bizarre and difficult to comprehend. Some of the solutions of Einstein equations are unphysical and violate the laws of causality. This puts the theory in trouble raising questions about its predictive ability.

A possible way out is the stability analysis. It is expected that the unphysical solutions predicted by this theory should not be stable and hence would not exist in real world. A perturbation analysis of such solutions can throw light on their existence, stability and evolution with time. Knowing about the stability of these solutions it will be easier to understand them.

Perturbation analysis has become a useful tool to solve many astrophysical and cosmological problems. It has been used to study the stability of black holes and to understand the emission of gravitational waves from black holes and gravitational collapse scenarios [11]. Perturbation analysis has also been used to study the stellar collapse. Various stellar models have been developed since the Schwarzschild vacuum solution was discovered. However, many of such models lead to prediction of unphysical or unstable solutions which can be ruled out using the perturbation analysis.

Perturbation analysis have also been used in the higher dimensional gravity theories to study the stability of higher dimensional black holes. Valuable information can be extracted from the perturbation analysis about the stability of black holes, gravitational wave emission during the formation of black hole, and quasi-normal model analysis [14]. Perturbation Theory also has many important application in the cosmology. Cosmological Perturbation theory provides a link between the Early Universe models (for eg. Inflationary Universe or Pre-Big-Bang model or Ekpyrotic- type models) and observations from cosmic microwave anisotropies and the spectrum of density fluctuations. [15]

2.2 Perturbation types

Gravitational perturbations can be classified in two categories, radial perturbations and non-radial perturbations. The study of radial perturbations was first initiated by Chandrasekhar in 1964 [16] [17] in order to understand the effect of relativity on the stability conditions. This was later extended by Linblom and Hiscock to fluid models with dissipations and viscosity [18].

The non radial perturbations were first introduced by T. Regge and J.A.Wheeler [6]. They generalized the theory of spherical harmonics to the tensors and based on the parity, they classified the perturbations into two classes:

1.Odd perturbations or axial perturbations: Perturbations with parity $(-1)^{L+1}$,

2. Even perturbations or polar perturbations: Perturbation with parity $(-1)^{L}$

Here L is the angular momentum. Such a classification depends on the metric structure, specifically, it is only valid for spacetime which have spherical symmetry. It has been further extended to general m+n dimensional spacetime where the perturbations can be classified as scalar, vector and tensor perturbations [19].

2.3 Notation and Convention

In this section, we describe the general notation and formalism which will be followed throughout the paper. We use the general method formulated by Ishibashi and Kodama [19] to find the perturbed Einstein equations for general four dimensional spherically symmetric spacetime, and apply it for stability analysis of these spacetimes sourced by perfect and anisotropic fluids in the next sections. We highlight the important theory and results of the formalism in this section.

2.3.1 Background Geometry

Consider a four dimensional spacetime whose metric structure is given as

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = g_{ab}(y)dy^a dy^b + \tilde{R}^2(y)\gamma_{ij}(z)dz^i dz^j$$

We assume $g_{ab}(y)$ is the metric defined on the r-t submanifold and $\gamma_{ij}(z)$ is the metric on two sphere S^2 . For the latter, we have $\hat{R}_{ij} = K\gamma_{ij}$ for some constant K. The constant K corresponds to the sectional curvature of S^2 and takes values -1 for hyperbolic geometry, 0 for Euclidean geometry and 1 for elliptic geometry.

We adopt the following convention to differentiate tensors associated with these submanifolds.

- i) Greek indices $\mu, \nu, \alpha, \beta, \gamma \cdots \rightarrow$ tensors on complete manifold
- ii) Latin indices a, b, c, d $\cdots \rightarrow$ tensors on r-t submanifold
- iii) Latin indices i, j, k, l $\cdots \rightarrow$ tensors on S^2

We denote covariant derivatives, Connection coefficients and Riemann curvature tensors for the full spacetime, the r-t submanifold and the sphere with metric γ_{ij} as

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} \to \nabla_{\mu}, \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}, R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$$
$$g_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b} \to D_{a}, \bar{\Gamma}^{a}_{bc}, \bar{R}_{abcd}$$
$$\gamma_{ij}dz^{i}dz^{j} \to \hat{D}_{i}, \hat{\Gamma}^{i}_{jk}, \hat{R}_{ijkl}$$

We now give the general formulae for the background spacetime.

1. Connection Coefficients:

$$\Gamma^{a}_{bc} = \bar{\Gamma}^{a}_{bc}, \quad \Gamma^{a}_{ij} = -\tilde{R}D^{a}\tilde{R}\gamma_{ij}, \quad \Gamma^{i}_{bj} = \frac{D_{b}\bar{R}}{\tilde{R}}\delta^{i}_{j}, \quad \Gamma^{i}_{jk} = \hat{\Gamma}^{i}_{jk}$$
(2.1)

2. Curvature Tensors:

$$R^{a}_{bcd} = \bar{R}^{a}_{bcd} \quad R^{a}_{ibj} = -\frac{D^{a}D_{b}R}{\tilde{R}}g_{ij}$$

$$R^{i}_{jkl} = \hat{R}^{i}_{jkl} - (D\tilde{R})^{2}(\delta^{i}_{k}\gamma_{jl} - \delta^{i}_{l}\gamma_{jk})$$
(2.2)

3. Ricci Tensors:

$$R_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{R}_{ab} - 2 \frac{D_a D_b \tilde{R}}{\tilde{R}}$$
$$R_{ai} = 0$$
$$R_{ij} = \left(-\frac{\Box \tilde{R}}{\tilde{R}} + \frac{K - (D\tilde{R})^2}{\tilde{R}^2} \right) g_{ij}$$
$$R = \bar{R} - 4 \frac{\Box \tilde{R}}{\tilde{R}} + 2 \frac{K - (D\tilde{R})^2}{\tilde{R}^2}$$

Here $\Box = D^a D_a$ and \overline{R} is the Ricci scalar of g_{ab} . We take our background energy momentum tensor of the form

$$T_{ai} = 0, \quad T^i_{\ j} = P\delta^i_{\ j} \tag{2.3}$$

where P is the pressure. Using the above quantities, we can write the Einstein equations for the background (κ^2 is the gravitational constant)

$$\bar{G}_{ab} - 2\frac{D_a D_b \tilde{R}}{\tilde{R}} - \left(\frac{K - (D\tilde{R})^2}{\tilde{R}^2} - 2\frac{\Box \tilde{R}}{\tilde{R}}\right)g_{ab} = \kappa^2 T_{ab}$$
(2.4)

$$-\frac{1}{2}\bar{R} + \frac{\Box\bar{R}}{\tilde{R}} = \kappa^2 P \tag{2.5}$$

Though we have specialized to four dimensional spacetime, in general this can be extended to the case when a sherically symmetric spacetime is a warped product of an m dimensional non compact spacetime and an n dimensional sphere.

2.3.2 Decomposition Theorems

The Einstein equations are a set of coupled partial differential equations which are very difficult to solve. To simplify the problem, we classify the perturbation variables based on their tensorial behavior on S^2 into three types. Such a classification leads to decoupling of linearized Einstein equations. Let us first discuss two general theorems of decomposition of vectors and tensors. [19]

1. Hodge Decomposition Theorem: Suppose $(\mathcal{K}^n, \gamma_{ij})$ be a compact Riemann manifold. Any dual vector field on \mathcal{K}^n can be uniquely decomposed as

$$v_i = V_i + \hat{D}_i S \tag{2.6}$$

where $\hat{D}^i V_i = 0$. We refer to V_i and S as vector type and scalar type components of dual vector v_i

2. Suppose $(\mathcal{K}^n, \gamma_{ij})$ be a compact Riemannian Einstein space, $\hat{R}_{ij} = c\gamma_{ij}$ for some constant c. Any second rank symmetric tensor field t_{ij} can be uniquely decomposed as

$$t_{ij} = t_{ij}^{(2)} + 2\hat{D}_{(i}t_{j)}^{(1)} + t_L\gamma_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij}t_T$$
$$\hat{L}_{ij} := \hat{D}_i\hat{D}_j - \frac{1}{n}\gamma_{ij}\hat{\Delta}$$
(2.7)

where $\hat{D}^{i}t_{ij}^{(2)} = 0$, $t_{i}^{(2)i} = 0$, $\hat{D}^{i}t_{i}^{(1)} = 0$ and $t_{L} = t_{m}^{m}/n$. A similar decomposition theorem has been proved by Kodama and Sasaki in which \mathcal{K}^{n} is considered maximally symmetric [20]. Using these two theorems, we can now write the decomposition of the metric and fluid perturbation variables. Let $\delta g_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu}$ be the metric perturbation relative to our background space-time. Its decomposition is given by

$$h_{ai} = \hat{D}_i h_a + h_{ai}^{(1)}$$

$$h_{ij} = h_T^{(2)}{}_{ij} + 2\hat{D}_{(i} h_T^{(1)}{}_{j)} + h_L \gamma_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij} h_T^{(0)}$$
(2.8)

where $\hat{D}^{j}h_{T\,ij}^{(2)} = h_{T}^{(2)i}{}_{i} = 0$, $\hat{D}^{i}h_{T\,i}^{(1)} = 0$ and $\hat{D}^{i}h_{ai}^{(1)} = 0$. A similar decomposition of the energy momentum tensor perturbation can be written down.

$$\delta T_{ai} = \hat{D}_i \delta T_a + \delta T_{ai}^{(1)} \delta T_{ij} = \delta T_{T \, ij}^{(2)} + 2 \hat{D}_{(i} \delta T_{T \, j)}^{(1)} + \delta T_L \gamma_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij} \delta T_T$$
(2.9)

here $\hat{D}^{j}\delta T_{T\,ij}^{(2)} = \delta T_{T\,i}^{(2)i} = 0$, $\hat{D}^{i}\delta T_{T\,i}^{(1)} = 0$ and $\hat{D}^{i}\delta T_{ai}^{(1)} = 0$. The perturbed Einstein equations gets decoupled into three types of equations and each type can be dealt individually.

2.3.3 Solving Gauge Ambiguity

One of the common problem in general relativity is the issue of gauge fixing. Since Einstein equations are invariant under gauge transformations generated by an infinitesimal vector field ζ^{μ} , therefore any perturbation variable should provide the same results as its gauge transformed ones. Clearly having multiple gauge choices creates an ambiguity in representation of perturbation variables. To resolve this ambiguity, we can either fix our gauge choice or work in gauge invariant variables. The two approaches are equivalent. [19]

Let us choose an infinitesimal gauge transformation given by $\delta z^{\mu} = \zeta^{\mu}$. The metric perturbation transformation is given by

$$\delta h_{\mu\nu} = -\nabla_{\mu}\zeta_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\zeta_{\mu} \tag{2.10}$$

For individual components, this can be written in terms of the covariant derivatives on the two submanifolds as

$$h_{ab} \rightarrow h_{ab} - D_a \zeta_b - D_b \zeta_a,$$

$$h_{ai} \rightarrow h_{ai} - \tilde{R}^2 D_a \frac{\zeta_i}{\tilde{R}^2} - \hat{D}_i \zeta_a$$

$$h_{ij} \rightarrow h_{ij} - 2\hat{D}_{(i}\zeta_{j)} - 2\tilde{R}(D^a \tilde{R})\zeta_a \gamma_{ij}$$

(2.11)

Similarly, the energy momentum tensor perturbation transformation law is given by

$$\delta(\delta T)_{\mu\nu} = -\zeta^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} T_{\mu\nu} - T_{\mu\alpha} \nabla_{\nu} \zeta^{\alpha} - T_{\nu\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} \zeta^{\alpha}$$
(2.12)

For individual components, this can be written as

$$\delta T_{ab} \to \delta T_{ab} - \zeta^c D_c T_{ab} - T_{ac} D_b \zeta^c - T_{bc} D_a \zeta^c,$$

$$\delta T_{ai} \to \delta T_{ai} - T_{ab} \hat{D}_i \zeta^b - \tilde{R}^2 P D_a \frac{\zeta_i}{\tilde{R}^2}$$

$$\delta T_{ij} \to \delta T_{ij} - \zeta^a D_a (\tilde{R}^2 P) \gamma_{ij} - 2P \hat{D}_{(i} \zeta_{j)}$$
(2.13)

Using the previous theorems, we can write the decomposition of the generator ζ^{μ} . From (2.6), we can see that

$$\zeta_a = T_a, \quad \zeta_i = V_i + \hat{D}_i S$$

where $\hat{D}^i V_i = 0$. In this paper, we focus only on the vector type perturbations. Hence we can write the gauge transformation law for the vector components of the metric perturbation

$$h_{ai}^{(1)} \to h_{ai}^{(1)} - \tilde{R}^2 D_a \left(\frac{V_i}{\tilde{R}^2}\right)$$
$$h_{Ti}^{(1)} \to h_{Ti}^{(1)} - V_i$$

A similar decomposition can be written for the vector components of energy momentum tensor perturbations. From the above transformation laws, we can build the following gauge invariant quantities.

$$F_{ai}^{(1)} := h_{ai}^{(1)} - \tilde{R}^2 D_a \left(\frac{h_{Ti}^{(1)}}{\tilde{R}^2}\right)$$
$$\tau_{ai}^{(1)} := \delta T_{ai}^{(1)} - P h_{ai}^{(1)}$$
$$\tau_{ij}^{(1)} := 2\hat{D}_{(i}\delta T_{Tj)}^{(1)} - 2P\hat{D}_{(i}h_{Tj)}^{(1)}$$

Using these gauge invariant quantities, we can now write the linearized Einstein equations for the perturbed metric. Note that there are no transverse traceless tensor perturbations for S^2 case. We first write the above gauge invariant quantities in terms of vector harmonics as follows. For a more detailed account of vector harmonics \mathcal{V}_i and derivation of the linearized equations refer [19], [21]. For generic modes $m_V := k_v^2 - K = l(l+1) - 2 \neq 0$ [19]

$$F_{ai}^{(1)} = \tilde{R}F_a \mathcal{V}_i, \quad \tau_{ai}^{(1)} = \tilde{R}\tau_a \mathcal{V}_i, \quad \tau_{ij}^{(1)} = \tilde{R}^2 \tau_T \mathcal{V}_{ij}$$

In terms of these quantities we can write the perturbed Einstein Equations as follows:

$$\frac{1}{\tilde{R}^3} D^b \left\{ \tilde{R}^4 \left[D_b \left(\frac{F_a}{\tilde{R}} \right) - D_a \left(\frac{F_b}{\tilde{R}} \right) \right] \right\} - \frac{m_V}{\tilde{R}^2} F_a = -2\kappa^2 \tau_a \tag{2.14}$$

$$\frac{k_V}{\tilde{R}^2} D_a(\tilde{R}F^a) = -\kappa^2 \tau_T \tag{2.15}$$

Chapter 3

Fluids

This chapter gives an introduction to fluids. Section I gives a some example of different types of relativistic fluids and the energy momentum tensors associated with them. Section II describes the conservation laws in relativistic hydrodynamics. Section III discusses various physical energy conditions and their implications. For detailed discussion about the fluids, refer to [22]

3.1 Classification of Fluids

Fluids can be classified on the basis of their physical properties. Fluids display various physical properties like viscosity, density, compressibility, surface tension etc. In general, we have different kinds of fluids like

- 1. Ideal fluids: Fluids which are not viscous and incompressible.
- 2. Non Ideal fluids: Fluids which are compressible and viscous.

Let us consider some special types of fluids and their energy momentum tensors

3.2 Stress Energy Tensor

Energy Momentum tensor is a generalization of stress tensor of Newtonian Physics and appears in the Einstein equations as a source of curvature of the spacetime. Let us now describe the energy momentum tensor of some of the special fluids. 1. Dust: Dust is a collection of particles which are all at rest in some Lorentz frame. In the rest frame, since all the particles are motionless hence their momentum is zero. Therefore the energy momentum tensor takes the form $T^{\mu}_{\nu} = diag(-\rho, 0, 0, 0)$ or in tensor notation

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho u^{\mu} u^{\nu}$$

Dust models were one of the initial fluid models studied in the stellar collapse problems in GR. The first such attempt was made by Oppenheimer and Snyder [23]. They found that a spherically symmetric star with dust as the source will always collapse to singularity and no stable stationary states are possible.

2. Perfect Fluids: Perfect fluids are the fluids which do not have viscosity, shear stress or heat conduction properties. They can be completely characterized by the energy density and isotropic pressure in the rest frame. The energy momentum tensor for the perfect fluids in the rest frame of the observer is given by $T^{\mu}_{\nu} = diag(-\rho, p, p, p)$, or in any general frame, is given by the tensor law

$$T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = (\rho + p)u^{\mu}u_{\nu} + p\delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$$

Perfect fluid have been widely used as a source in the study of stellar collapse. There is a large amount of literature published in this area due to the wide applications of this model. Recently, in a 1998 article, Skea and Finch [2] analyzed the large number of solutions obtained for the static spherically symmetric perfect fluid stars based on the physical conditions for realistic solutions. This was further extended by Delgaty and Lake [24].

3. Non-Perfect Fluids: Unlike perfect fluids, non perfect fluids are fluids with non zero tangential or shearing stress. These are compressible and viscous in nature. As a result these are difficult to model. It took a considerable time to develop a relativistically consistent theory of such fluids. A brief account of the history of relativistic fluids is presented in [22].

For a general description refer to [25]. The energy momentum tensor for a general fluid is given by [26]:

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho(1+\varepsilon)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + (p-\zeta\theta) \perp^{\mu\nu} -2\eta\sigma^{\mu\nu} + q^{\mu}u^{\nu} + q^{\nu}u^{\mu}$$

where ρ is the rest mass density, ε is the energy density in the rest frame, p

is the pressure, η , ζ are the shear and bulk viscosities, q^{μ} is the energy flux vector, u^{μ} is the four velocity and $\perp^{\mu\nu}$ is the projection tensor (spatial) given by

$$\perp^{\mu\nu} = u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + g^{\mu\nu}$$

 θ defined as $\theta = \nabla_{\mu} u^{\mu}$, describes the convergence or the divergence of world lines of fluid element. $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$ is the traceless, symmetric, spatial shear stress given by

$$\sigma^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{\mu} u^{\alpha} \perp^{\mu\beta} + \nabla_{\mu} u^{\beta} \perp^{\mu\alpha}) - \frac{1}{3} \theta \perp^{\alpha\beta}$$

In the following chapters, we work with perfect and anisotropic fluid, a special case of real fluids for which the viscosity, shear and dissipation terms are zero. The anisotropic fluid differs from the perfect fluid due to differences in radial and tangential pressures i.e. $p_r \neq p_t$

3.3 Conservation Law

In general relativity, the hydrodynamics equation of non relativistic mechanics is now replaced by a more general law given by

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\nu\mu} = 0 \tag{3.1}$$

As given in the previous chapter, for our case the background metric is written as

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = g_{ab}(y)dy^a dy^b + R^2(y)\gamma_{ij}(z)dz^i dz^j$$

where we have denoted radius \tilde{R} as R and the energy momentum tensor is assumed to have the form $T_{ai} = 0$ and $T_j^i = P\delta_j^i$ where P is the pressure. Later we will specialize to a definite form of T_{ab} , but for now we can assume it to be of any general form. From the conservation law we have

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{a\mu} = 0$$

which gives

$$D_b T^{ab} + 2\frac{D_b R}{R} (T^{ab} - pg^{ab}) = 0$$
(3.2)

while the other equation $\nabla_{\mu}T^{i\mu} = 0$ is trivially satisfied due to the metric compatibility condition.

Along with the perturbations of the background spacetime, the background fluid is also perturbed. This leads to a change in energy momentum tensor of the fluid by a small perturbation $\tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} + \delta T_{\mu\nu}$. Under the linearized approximation, the continuity equation for the perturbed energy momentum tensor can be written as

$$\tilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu\nu} + \delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha\nu} + \delta\Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha\mu} = 0$$
$$\delta(\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}) = \nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu\nu} + \delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha\nu} + \delta\Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha\mu}$$
(3.3)

Case 1: $\nu = a$. The above equation becomes

$$\delta \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu a} = \nabla_{\mu} \delta T^{\mu a} + \delta \Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu \alpha} T^{\alpha a} + \delta \Gamma^{a}_{\mu \alpha} T^{\alpha \mu}$$
(3.4)

Consider the first term in the expansion

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu a} = \nabla_{b}\delta T^{ba} + \nabla_{i}\delta T^{ia} \tag{3.5}$$

It can be easily computed that

$$\delta T^{ab} = g^{ac}g^{bd}\delta T_{cd} - g^{ad}T^{bc}h_{cd} - g^{bc}T^{ad}h_{cd}$$
(3.6)

$$\delta T^{ai} = g^{ab}g^{ij}(\delta T_{bj} - Ph_{bj}) - T^{ab}g^{ij}h_{jb}$$
(3.7)

$$\delta T^{ij} = g^{ik} g^{jl} (\delta T_{kl} - 2Ph_{kl}) \tag{3.8}$$

On expanding the two terms in expression (3.5) and using the above equations, we see that both these terms go to zero. (Using the relations $\gamma^{ij}\delta T_{ij} = \gamma^{ij}h_{ij} = 0$ and $\hat{D}^i\delta T_{ai} = 0$). The Christoffels can be treated in the similar manner. Expanding the second term of equation (3.4),

$$\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha a} = T^{ab}\frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{2}(-\nabla_{\nu}h_{\mu b} + \nabla_{\mu}h_{\nu b} + \nabla_{b}h_{\mu\nu})$$

To simplify the above expression, we can use the symmetry of the metric. Since the metric is symmetric about μ and ν while the sum of the first two terms are antisymmetric about them, hence their sum vanishes. Since $\nabla_{\mu}g^{\alpha\beta} = 0$, and for vector perturbations $Tr(\mathbf{h}) = 0$, therefore the last term also vanishes.

$$g^{\mu\nu}\nabla_a h_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_a (g^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}) = 0$$

This gives,

$$\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{\alpha\nu}=0$$

Approaching the same way, using the symmetry of the energy momentum tensor and relations mentioned above we can see that the third term in equation (3.4) also goes to zero. Equation (3.4) thus reduces to

$$\delta(\nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu a}) = 0 \tag{3.9}$$

Case 2: $\nu = i$. Equation (3.3) can be written as

$$\delta(\nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu i}) = \nabla_{\mu} \delta T^{\mu i} + \delta \Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha} T^{\alpha i} + \delta \Gamma^{i}_{\mu\alpha} T^{\alpha\mu}$$
(3.10)

Following the same procedure, lets expand the first term. We have

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu i} = \nabla_{a}\delta T^{ai} + \nabla_{j}\delta T^{ji}$$

On expanding the covariant derivatives this reduces to

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu i} = D_a\delta T^{ai} + \hat{D}_j\delta T^{ji} + \frac{4\partial_a R}{R}\delta T^{ai}$$

 δT^{ai} and δT^{ij} can be rewritten using equations (3.7) and (3.8). Using the definition of τ_{ai} from chapter 2 and equation (3.2), we can rewrite the above equation as

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta T^{\mu i} = \frac{1}{R^2}g^{ab}g^{ij}D_a(R^2\tau_{bj}) + g^{ik}g^{jl}\hat{D}_j(\tau_{kl} - Ph_{kl}) - T^{ab}g^{ij}D_ah_{jb} - 2P\frac{\partial^a R}{R}g^{ij}h_{aj}$$

Expansion of the second term of equation (3.10) gives

$$\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{i\alpha} = T^{ij}\frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{2}(-\nabla_{\nu}h_{\mu j} + \nabla_{\mu}h_{\nu j} + \nabla_{j}h_{\mu\nu})$$

Again, using the symmetry property of the metric the first and second term cancels each other. We are then left with last term which again goes to zero as the trace of metric perturbation is zero. Hence

$$\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha}T^{i\alpha} = 0 \tag{3.11}$$

The last term can be similarly simplified to give

$$\delta\Gamma^i_{\mu\alpha}T^{\mu\alpha} = g^{ij}T^{ab}D_ah_{jb} + g^{ij}T^{kl}\hat{D}_kh_{jl} + \frac{2P}{R}(\partial_b R)g^{ab}g^{ij}h_{aj}$$
(3.12)

Substituting this in the equation (3.10) and after a little algebra we get

$$\delta(\nabla_{\mu}T^{i\mu}) = \frac{1}{R^2} g^{ab} g^{ij} D_a(R^2 \tau_{bj}) + \frac{1}{R^4} \gamma^{ik} \gamma^{jl} \hat{D}_j \tau_{kl}$$
(3.13)

From chapter 1, we have $\tau_{kl} = R^2 \tau_T \mathcal{V}_{kl}$. Substituting this in the above expression and using the result

$$\hat{D}_j \mathcal{V}_k^j = \frac{m_V}{2k_V} \mathcal{V}_K$$

we have the final equation

$$D_a(R^3\tau^a) + \frac{m_V}{2k_V}R^2\tau_T = 0 ag{3.14}$$

3.4 Energy Conditions

Solving Einstein equations can lead to many possible solutions, some of which may be non-physical and unreasonable. To obtain physically reasonable solutions, we need a physically reasonable energy momentum tensor. We impose some energy conditions on $T^{\mu\nu}$ for this. We give a description of various energy conditions. We have used [27] as a main reference for this section.

Let us assume the following decomposition of energy momentum tensor:

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho e_0^{\mu} e_0^{\nu} + p_1 e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu} + p_2 e_2^{\mu} e_2^{\nu} + p_3 e_3^{\mu} e_3^{\nu}$$
(3.15)

where e^{μ}_{σ} are functions of the coordinates and form an orthonormal basis ie.

$$g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{\alpha}e^{\nu}_{\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta} \tag{3.16}$$

where $\eta_{\alpha\beta} = diag(-1, 1, 1, 1)$ is the minkowski metric. Let v^{α} be any normalized future directed timelike vector. Physically it describes the four velocity of any observer in spacetime.

$$v^{\alpha} = \gamma (e_0^{\alpha} + ae_1^{\alpha} + be_2^{\alpha} + ce_3^{\alpha})$$
(3.17)

where γ is the normalization factor given by $\gamma = (1 - a^2 - b^2 - c^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and a, b, c are arbitrary functions of coordinates. Similarly let us also define a future directed null vector k^{α} by

$$k^{\alpha} = e_0^{\alpha} + a' e_1^{\alpha} + b' e_2^{\alpha} + c' e_3^{\alpha}$$
(3.18)

where again a', b' and c' are functions of coordinates and $a'^2 + b'^2 + c'^2 = 1$.

3.4.1 Weak Energy Condition

It states that for every timelike vector field, the energy density observed by the corresponding observer in spacetime is non negative:

$$\rho = T_{\mu\nu} v^{\mu} v^{\nu} \ge 0$$

Substituting the expressions of $T_{\mu\nu}$ and of v^{μ} from (3.15) and (3.17) and after a little simplification we get

$$\rho + a^2 p_1 + b^2 p_2 + c^2 p_3 \ge 0$$

Using the arbitrariness of a, b and c we get

$$\rho \ge 0, \quad \rho + p_i > 0 \tag{3.19}$$

3.4.2 Null Energy Condition

This is the weakest of all energy conditions. It states that for every future directed null vector k^{α}

$$T_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}k^{\nu} \ge 0$$

Using equations(3.15) and (3.18) we have

$$\rho + a^{\prime 2} p_1 + b^{\prime 2} p_2 + c^{\prime 2} p_3 \ge 0$$

where a',b' and c' are related as described above. Using this we get

$$\rho + p_i \ge 0 \tag{3.20}$$

3.4.3 Strong Energy Condition

According to strong energy condition,

$$(T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}Tg_{\mu\nu})v^{\alpha}v^{\beta} \ge 0$$

Using equation (3.15) and (3.17) and the arbitrary nature of a,b and c we have

$$\rho + p_1 + p_2 + p_3 \ge 0, \quad \rho + p_i \ge 0 \tag{3.21}$$

3.4.4 Dominant Energy Condition

According to dominant energy condition, for any future directed, timelike vector field v^{μ} , $-T^{\mu}_{\nu}v^{\nu}$ will also be a future directed, timelike or null vector field. In other words, $-T^{\mu}_{\nu}v^{\nu}$ is not spacelike or

$$\rho^2-a^2p_1^2-b^2p_2^2-c^2p_3^2\geq 0$$

Again, from the arbitrariness of a,b and c we have

$$\rho \ge 0, \quad \rho \ge |p_i| \tag{3.22}$$

In the following sections we will be dealing with the perfect and anisotropic fluids. We can write the energy conditions for these cases:

Case 1: Perfect Fluid

For perfect fluid, we have $p_1 = p_2 = p_3 = p$ and hence, from equation (3.15) and (3.16)

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho e_0^{\mu} e_0^{\nu} + p(e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu} + e_2^{\mu} e_2^{\nu} + e_3^{\mu} e_3^{\nu})$$

= $(\rho + p) e_0^{\mu} e_0^{\nu} + p g^{\mu\nu}$ (3.23)

Comparing with equation of Energy Momentum Tensor of perfect fluid, we see that $e_0^{\mu} = u^{\mu}$. The energy conditions can be written as

- 1. Weak Energy Condition: $\rho \ge 0, \ \rho + p > 0$
- 2. Null Energy Condition: $\rho + p \ge 0$
- 3. Strong Energy Condition: $\rho + 3p \ge 0, \ \rho + p \ge 0$
- 4. Dominant Energy Condition: $\rho \ge 0, \ \rho \ge |p|$

Case 2: Anisotropic Fluids

For anisotropic fluid, we have $p_1 = p_r$, $p_2 = p_3 = p_t$ and hence, from equation (3.15) and (3.16)

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \rho e_0^{\mu} e_0^{\nu} + p_r e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu} + p_t (e_2^{\mu} e_2^{\nu} + e_3^{\mu} e_3^{\nu})$$

= $(\rho + p_t) e_0^{\mu} e_0^{\nu} + (p_r - p_t) e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu} + p_t g^{\mu\nu}$ (3.24)

Comparing with equation of Energy Momentum Tensor of anisotropic fluid we see that $e_0^{\mu} = u^{\mu}$ and $e_1^{\mu} = s^{\mu}$. The energy conditions can be written as

- 1. Weak Energy Condition: $\rho \ge 0$, $\rho + p_t > 0$ $\rho + p_r \ge 0$
- 2. Null Energy Condition: $\rho + p_t \ge 0$, $\rho + p_r \ge 0$
- 3. Strong Energy Condition: $\rho + p_r + 2p_t \ge 0$, $\rho + p_r \ge 0$, $\rho + p_t \ge 0$
- 4. Dominant Energy Condition: $\rho \ge 0$, $\rho \ge |p_r|$ $\rho + p_t \ge 0$

Chapter 4

Perfect Fluids

Perfect fluid is defined as the fluid which has no viscosity, heat conduction or other transport or dissipative processes. Such fluid models have been widely studied in the area of stellar collapse and perturbations. In this section, we use perfect fluid case as an example to demonstrate the formalism described in chapter 1. In the first section we describe the energy momentum tensor of perfect fluid and the background spacetime. We then discuss the Einstein equation for the background and perturbed spacetime. We end with a derivation of master equation. For more detailed analysis and solutions to the master equation, refer to the work of Chandrasekhar and Ferrari [3].

4.1 Background Spacetime

Let us consider a gravitational collapse situation of a spherically symmetric star. The general metric for the interior of the spherically symmetric star is given by

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\nu}dt^{2} + e^{2\psi}dr^{2} + R^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$

 $d\Omega^2$ represents the metric on 2-sphere. Here ν , ψ and R are functions of the comoving coordinates r and t. The exterior of the star is described in general by Vaidya spacetime.

For a static spacetime, the existence of a timelike killing vector requires all the metric and fluid variables to be functions of only r. Hence, for static metric, we can describe the exterior by Schwarzschild metric given by

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$

Let us now describe the perfect fluid source [28]. The energy momentum tensor for perfect fluids in the rest frame of the observer is given by

$$T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} -\rho & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & p & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & p & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & p \end{pmatrix}$$

Here ρ is the energy density of the fluid at rest and p is the isotropic pressure. Dust is a special case of perfect fluid with zero pressure. In general, there is an equation of state which relates the pressure with energy density. For example, radiation is also a perfect fluid with equation of state $\rho = 3p$.

In any general frame, the energy momentum tensor of perfect fluid is given by

$$T^{\beta}_{\alpha} = (\rho + p)u_{\alpha}u^{\beta} + p\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}$$

where $u^{\alpha} = e^{-\nu} \delta_0^{\alpha}$ is the four velocity of the fluid which obeys the relations

 $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = -1.$ In comoving coordinates $u^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\nu} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$

4.2 Background Einstein equations

We can now find the relation between the metric and the fluid variables using the Einstein equations with cosmological constant taken to be zero. Together with equation of state $p = p(\rho)$, these determine the form of metric and fluid variables. Following [5], in this section we work in the system of units for which $\kappa^2 = 1$. Here prime (') denotes derivative wrt. r and dot() denotes wrt. t.

$$-2RR''e^{-2\psi} + 2\dot{\psi}R\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} + 2\psi'RR'e^{-2\psi} + 1 + \dot{R}^2e^{-2\nu} - R'^2e^{-2\psi} = \rho R^2 \quad (4.1)$$

$$-2R\ddot{R}e^{-2\nu} + 2\nu'RR'e^{-2\psi} + 2R\dot{\nu}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - 1 - \dot{R}^2e^{-2\nu} + R'^2e^{-2\psi} = pR^2 \quad (4.2)$$

$$(R\nu''e^{-2\psi} - R\ddot{\psi}e^{-2\nu} - \ddot{R}e^{-2\nu} + R''e^{-2\psi}) + (\nu'^{2}e^{-2\psi} - \dot{\psi}^{2}e^{-2\nu})R + (\dot{\nu}\dot{\psi}e^{-2\nu} - \nu'\psi'e^{-2\psi})R + (\nu'R'e^{-2\psi} + \dot{\nu}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \dot{\psi}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \psi'R'e^{-2\psi}) = pR$$

$$(4.3)$$

$$\nu'\dot{R} + R'\dot{\psi} = \partial_{t}R'$$

$$(4.4)$$

where the last equation follows from $R_{10} = 0$. Let us introduce a mass function

$$m = \frac{R}{2}(1 + \dot{R}^2 e^{-2\nu} - R'^2 e^{-2\psi})$$

This is the Misner Sharp mass function which describes the mass enclosed by the spherical star of radius R [29]. We can recast equations (4.1) and (4.2) as

$$\frac{2m'}{R^2R'} = \rho \tag{4.5}$$

$$\frac{2\dot{m}}{R^2\dot{R}} = -p \tag{4.6}$$

Since p is non zero, hence for any non static case, the Misner-Sharp mass function and hence the mass of the spherical shell keeps changing with time. Therefore it is not possible to describe the exterior of the star by a Schwarzschild metric and so we use Vaidya spacetime. For static case, ν , ψ and R are functions of only R. The Misner-Sharp function is, thus, constant in time as the time derivative of R will be zero. Hence, for static metric, we can choose our exterior spacetime to be Schwarzschild [5]. Note that for static spacetime, equation (4.4) is trivially satisfied. For static spacetime the Misner-Sharp function becomes:

$$m = \frac{R}{2}(1 - R^{\prime 2}e^{-2\psi})$$

Thus for static spacetime, equation (4.5) and (4.6) have the same form with above Misner-Sharp function. Equation (4.3) reduces to

$$\left(\nu'' + \frac{R''}{R}\right) + \nu'(\nu' - \psi') + \left(\nu'\frac{R'}{R} - \psi'\frac{R'}{R}\right) = pe^{2\psi}$$
(4.7)

The boundary is chosen at $R = R_b$ such that at $R = R_b$ the pressure goes to zero and for $R < R_b$, pressure is positive. At the boundary, the metric should match the exterior spacetime.

4.3 Perturbed Einstein Equations and Master Equation

Using the gauge invariant Einstein equations derived in chapter 1, we can now write down the perturbed Einstein equations for stars sourced by perfect fluid. Let us rewrite the perturbed Einstein equations derived in chapter 1

$$\frac{1}{R^3} D^b \left[R^4 \left(D_b \left(\frac{F_a}{R} \right) - D_a \left(\frac{F_b}{R} \right) \right) \right] - \frac{m_V}{R^2} F_a = -2\kappa^2 \tau_a \qquad (4.8)$$

$$\frac{k_V}{R^2} D_a(RF^a) = -\kappa^2 \tau_T \tag{4.9}$$

For perfect fluid case, $R\tau_a = (p + \rho)\alpha u_a$ and $\tau_T = 0$. Thus, for a = t we can rewrite equation (4.8) as

$$Re^{-2\psi} \left[\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right) - (\nu' + \psi') \left(\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right] + 4R' e^{-2\psi} \left[\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right] - \frac{m_v}{R^2} F_t = \frac{2\kappa^2}{R} \left[(p+\rho)\tilde{\alpha}e^{\nu} \right]$$
(4.10)

For a = r equation (4.8) becomes

$$R\left[\partial_t \left(\partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right) - \partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right)\right)\right] - R(\dot{\nu} + \dot{\psi} - 4\dot{R})\left[\partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right) - \partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right)\right] + \frac{m_V}{R^2}F_r e^{2\nu} = 0$$
(4.11)

Similarly we can write the equation (4.9) as

$$-R^{2}\left[e^{-2\nu}\partial_{t}\left(\frac{F_{t}}{R}\right) - e^{-2\psi}\partial_{r}\left(\frac{F_{r}}{R}\right)\right] - 2R\left[\frac{F_{t}}{R}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \frac{F_{r}}{R}R'e^{-2\psi}\right] + R^{2}\left[(\dot{\nu} - \dot{\psi})\frac{F_{t}}{R}e^{-2\nu} - (\psi' - \nu')\frac{F_{r}}{R}e^{-2\psi}\right] = 0$$

$$(4.12)$$

For static metric, equation (4.10) remains same while equation (4.11) becomes

$$Re^{-2\nu} \left[\partial_t \left(\partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) - \partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) \right) \right] + \frac{m_V}{R^2} F_r = 0$$
(4.13)

and equation(4.12) becomes

$$R\left[e^{-2\nu}\partial_t\left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right) - e^{-2\psi}\partial_r\left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right)\right] - \frac{2F_r}{R}R'e^{-2\psi} + R(\psi'-\nu')\frac{F_r}{R}e^{-2\psi} = 0$$
(4.14)

Let us now derive the master equation for perfect fluids. Consider the perturbed conservation law derived in section 3.3 (equation (3.14))

$$g^{ab}D_a(R^3\tau_b) + \frac{m_V}{2k_V}R^2\tau_T = 0$$
(4.15)

From this expression, we can write τ_T in terms of τ_a and substitute in expression (4.9). We get

$$D_a(RF^a - \frac{2\kappa^2}{m_V}R^3\tau^a) = 0$$

We know that divergence of a curl is always zero. Hence we can rewrite the expression in the bracket as a curl.

$$\epsilon^{ab} D_b \tilde{\Omega} = RF^a - \frac{2\kappa^2}{m_V} R^3 \tau^a \tag{4.16}$$

Substituting the value of F^a in equation (4.8), we get the master equation:

$$R^{2}D_{a}\left(\frac{1}{R^{2}}D^{a}\tilde{\Omega}\right) - \frac{m_{V}}{R^{2}}\tilde{\Omega} = -\frac{2\kappa^{2}}{m_{V}}R^{2}\epsilon^{ab}D_{a}(R\tau_{b})$$
(4.17)

Further, for static metric, we can consider the perturbations of specific frequency due to the existence of a timelike killing vector field. Hence let us assume $\tilde{\Omega} = e^{\lambda t} \Omega(r)$ and $\tilde{\alpha} = e^{\lambda t} \alpha(r)$ [6]. Substituting these expressions in above equation we get a radial equation for our static metric given by

$$\Omega'' + \left(\nu' - \psi' - \frac{2R'}{R}\right)\Omega' - \left[\frac{m_V}{R^2}e^{2\psi} + \lambda^2 e^{2(\psi-\nu)}\right]\Omega =$$

$$\frac{-2\kappa^2}{m_V}R^2 e^{2\psi+\nu}\left[\alpha(p'+\rho') + (p+\rho)(\alpha'+\nu'\alpha)\right]$$
(4.18)

We can convert this to Schrodinger type equation with a new set of coordinate defined as $dr^* = R^2 e^{\psi - \nu} dr$. Under this coordinate change, above equation becomes

$$\frac{d^2\Omega}{dr^{*2}} - \left[\frac{m_V}{R^2}e^{2\nu} + \lambda^2\right]\frac{\Omega}{R^4} = \frac{-2\kappa^2}{m_V}e^{2\nu+\psi}\left[\alpha\left(\frac{dp}{dr^*} + \frac{d\rho}{dr^*}\right) + (p+\rho)\left(\frac{d\alpha}{dr^*} + \alpha\frac{d\nu}{dr^*}\right)\right]$$
(4.19)

Further from the perturbed conservation law we have

$$(p+\rho)\lambda\alpha e^{\lambda t+\nu} = 0$$

which implies that $\alpha = 0$. Hence RHS of equation (4.19) goes to zero showing that fluid perturbations do not excite axial perturbations and hence metric perturbations remain decoupled from fluid perturbations. For a more detailed analysis, refer to the work of Chandrasekhar and Ferrari [3] Reference used: [19]

Chapter 5

Anisotropic Fluids

5.1 Energy Momentum Tensor

In this chapter, we consider the axial perturbation of stars sourced by anisotropic fluids. The energy momentum tensor for anisotropic fluids in comoving coordinates is given by ([30])

$$T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \left(\begin{array}{cccc} -\rho & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & p_r & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & p_t & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & p_t \end{array}\right)$$

where ρ is the energy density of the fluid, p_r is the radial(normal) pressure and p_t is the tangential pressure, all dependent on t and r in general. In the limit $p_r \to p_t$ we recover the perfect fluid case. The tensor equation for the above energy momentum tensor is

$$T^{\mu}_{\nu} = (\rho + p_t)u_{\nu}u^{\mu} + (p_r - p_t)s_{\nu}s^{\mu} + p_t\delta^{\mu}_{\nu}$$
(5.1)

where $u^{\mu} = e^{-\nu} \delta_0^{\mu}$ is the four velocity of the fluid and $s^{\mu} = e^{\psi} \delta_0^{\mu}$ is the unit vector in the radial direction. As can be verified, these quantities satisfy the relations $u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1$, $s_{\mu}s^{\mu} = 1$ and $s_{\mu}u^{\mu} = 0$

5.2 Energy Conditions

In this section we discuss the energy conditions for the Perturbed Energy Momentum Tensor. Following section 3.4 we can write the decomposition of perturbed energy momentum tensor as

$$\tilde{T}^{\alpha\beta} = \tilde{\rho}\tilde{e}_{0}^{\alpha}\tilde{e}_{0}^{\beta} + \tilde{p}_{1}\tilde{e}_{1}^{\alpha}\tilde{e}_{1}^{\beta} + \tilde{p}_{2}\tilde{e}_{2}^{\alpha}\tilde{e}_{2}^{\beta} + \tilde{p}_{3}\tilde{e}_{3}^{\alpha}\tilde{e}_{3}^{\beta}$$
(5.2)

where vectors \tilde{e}^{α}_{μ} form an orthonormal basis i.e.

$$\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}\tilde{e}^{\alpha}_{\mu}\tilde{e}^{\beta}_{\nu}=\eta_{\mu\nu}$$

These basis vectors are functions of coordinates and $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the minkowski metric. The inverse metric is given by

$$\tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta} = \eta^{\mu\nu} \tilde{e}^{\alpha}_{\mu} \tilde{e}^{\beta}_{\nu}$$

The perturbed energy momentum tensor can also be written as the sum of background and the perturbation.

$$\tilde{T}^{\alpha\beta} = T^{\alpha\beta} + \delta T^{\alpha\beta}$$

Following section 3.4, from equation (3.15) and (3.16) we can also write the background energy momentum tensor in the following form:

$$T^{\alpha\beta} = (\rho + p_t)\hat{e}_0^{\alpha}\hat{e}_0^{\beta} + p_t g^{\alpha\beta} + (p_r - p_t)\hat{e}_1^{\alpha}\hat{e}_1^{\beta}$$

By comparison with equation(5.1) we see that $u^{\mu} = \hat{e}_{0}^{\alpha}$ and $s^{\mu} = \hat{e}_{1}^{\alpha}$. The perturbation of the above gives

$$\delta T_{\alpha\beta} = 2(\rho + p_t)\hat{e}_{(0\alpha}\delta\hat{e}_{0\beta)} + p_th_{\alpha\beta} + 2(p_r - p_t)\hat{e}_{(1\alpha}\hat{e}_{1\beta)}$$
$$\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta} = (\rho + p_t)[\hat{e}_{0\alpha}\hat{e}_{0\beta} + 2\hat{e}_{(0\alpha}\delta\hat{e}_{0\beta)}] + p_t\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} + (p_r - p_t)(\hat{e}_{1\alpha}\hat{e}_{1\beta} + 2\hat{e}_{(1\alpha}\delta\hat{e}_{1\beta)})$$

where $\delta u_{\alpha} = \delta \hat{e}_{0\alpha}$ and $\delta s_{\alpha} = \delta \hat{e}_{1\alpha}$. Proceeding in the same way as section 3.3, we define a future directed timelike and null vector field.

$$\tilde{v}^{\alpha} = \gamma (\tilde{e}_0^{\alpha} + a\tilde{e}_1^{\alpha} + b\tilde{e}_2^{\alpha} + c\tilde{e}_3^{\alpha})$$
$$\tilde{k}^{\alpha} = \gamma (\tilde{e}_0^{\alpha} + a'\tilde{e}_1^{\alpha} + b'\tilde{e}_2^{\alpha} + c'\tilde{e}_3^{\alpha})$$

We can now write down the energy conditions

1. Weak Energy Condition:

$$\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta}\tilde{v}^{\alpha}\tilde{v}^{\beta} \ge 0$$

This can be simplified to

$$\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta}\tilde{v}^{\alpha}\tilde{v}^{\beta} = \gamma^2[\rho + p_r a^2 + p_t(b^2 + c^2)] \ge 0$$

Again, using the arbitrariness of a, b and c we can find the conditions on energy density and pressure.

- i. Let a = b = c = 0 which gives $\rho \ge 0$
- ii. Let b = c = 0. Thus we have $\rho + p_r > \rho + p_r a^2 \ge 0$.
- iii. Let a = c = 0. Thus we have $\rho + p_t > \rho + p_t b^2 \ge 0$.
- 2. Null Energy Condition:

$$\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta}\tilde{k}^{\alpha}\tilde{k}^{\beta} \ge 0$$

This gives

$$\gamma^2 [\rho + p_r a'^2 + p_t (b'^2 + c'^2)] \ge 0$$

Using the arbitrariness of b and c we can see that $\rho + p_r \ge 0$ and $\rho + p_t \ge 0$

3. Strong Energy Condition:

$$(\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{T}\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta})\tilde{v}^{\alpha}\tilde{v}^{\beta} \ge 0$$

The second term in the above expression reduces to trace of perturbed energy momentum tensor (v is a timelike normalized vector field). Substituting the expressions of $\tilde{T}_{\alpha\beta}$ and \tilde{v}^{α} from above and after a little simplification

$$2\gamma^2[(p_t+\rho)(1+2u_\alpha\delta u^\alpha+2u^\alpha\delta u_\alpha)+(p_r-p_t)\tilde{a}^2(1+2s_\alpha\delta s^\alpha+2s^\alpha\delta s_\alpha)-p_t(1-\tilde{a}^2-\tilde{b}^2-\tilde{c}^2)]\geq -\tilde{T}^\alpha_\alpha$$

Since we are only considering the axial perturbations hence the perturbation term do not contribute to the trace of perturbed energy momentum tensor. Therefore,

$$\tilde{T}^{\alpha}_{\alpha} = T^{\alpha}_{\alpha}$$

Thus the strong energy condition yields:

$$2\gamma^{2}[\rho + a^{2}p_{r} + p_{t}(b^{2} + c^{2})] \ge \rho - p_{r} - 2p_{t}$$

Choosing a = b = c = 0 we get $\rho + p_r + 2p_t > 0$

5.3 Conservation Law

Let us consider the gravitational collapse situation similar to the perfect fluid case. The form of the metric of stellar interior is given by

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\nu}dt^{2} + e^{2\psi}dR^{2} + R^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$

where ν, ψ and R are functions of the comoving coordinates r and t and $d\Omega^2$ represents the metric on a 2-sphere. The exterior of the star is described by the Vaidya spacetime. For the above metric, we find the conservation law for anisotropic fluid to obtain relations between energy density, radial and tangential pressure:

$$\dot{\rho} + (p_r + \rho)\dot{\psi} + (p_t + \rho)\frac{2\dot{R}}{R} = 0$$
(5.3)

$$p'_r + (p_r + \rho)\nu' + (p_r - p_t)\frac{2R'}{R} = 0$$
(5.4)

For a static metric metric, pressure and density will also be a function of only r. As a result, first equation (5.3) is trivially satisfied.

To find the functional form of ν , ψ and R, we need to solve the Einstein equations. For the above metric the Einstein equations are (assuming $\kappa^2 = 1$ for this section):

$$\frac{2m'}{R^2 R'} = \rho \tag{5.5}$$

$$\frac{2\dot{m}}{R^2\dot{R}} = -p_r \tag{5.6}$$

$$(\nu''e^{-2\psi} - \ddot{\psi}e^{-2\nu} - \frac{\ddot{R}}{R}e^{-2\nu} + \frac{R''}{R}e^{-2\psi})R^2 + (\nu'^2e^{-2\psi} - \dot{\psi}^2e^{-2\nu})R^2 + (\dot{\nu}\dot{\psi}e^{-2\nu} - \nu'\psi'e^{-2\psi})R^2 + (\nu'R'e^{-2\psi} + \dot{\nu}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \dot{\psi}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \psi'R'e^{-2\psi})R = p_tR^2$$
(5.7)

where m is the Misner Sharp mass function as described in the previous chapter.

$$m = \frac{R}{2} (1 + \dot{R}^2 e^{-2\nu} - R'^2 e^{-2\psi})$$

For $p_r = 0$, the Misner-Sharp function does not change with time and hence, only a function of radial coordinate. In this case we can describe the exterior of the star by the Schwarzschild metric.

$$ds^{2} = -(1 - \frac{2GM}{R})dt^{2} + (1 - \frac{2GM}{R})dr^{2} + R^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$

However, for any $p_r \neq 0$, the Misner-Sharp function changes with time and hence, we cannot describe the exterior by Schwarzschild metric. In such a case, we have to choose more general Vaidya metric to describe the stellar exterior [5]. For the static case the time derivatives will be zero and equations become

$$2\psi'\frac{R'}{R}e^{-2\psi} + \frac{1}{R^2} - \frac{R'^2}{R^2}e^{-2\psi} = \rho$$
(5.8)

$$2\nu' R' e^{-2\psi} - 1 + R'^2 e^{-2\psi} = p_r R^2$$
(5.9)

$$\left(\nu''e^{-2\psi} + \frac{R''}{R}e^{-2\psi}\right) + \nu'^2 e^{-2\psi} - \nu'\psi'e^{-2\psi} + \left(\nu'\frac{R'}{R}e^{-2\psi} - \psi'\frac{R'}{R}e^{-2\psi}\right) = p_t \quad (5.10)$$

The above equations can be solved to obtain the functions ν, ψ and R. For static metric, the exterior spacetime will be Schwarzschild. For detailed solutions refer [30]. To consider the axial perturbations let us first consider the conservation law for the perturbed energy momentum tensor. The perturbation of energy momentum tensor can be written as

$$\delta T_{\mu\nu} = 2(\rho + p_t)u_{(\mu}\delta u_{\nu)} + 2(p_r - p_t)s_{(\mu}\delta s_{\nu)} + p_t h_{\mu\nu}$$

Let $\delta u_i = \tilde{\alpha} \mathcal{V}_i$ and $\delta s_i = \tilde{\beta} \mathcal{V}_i$. $\delta u_a = \delta s_a = 0$ because these will behave like scalars on S^2 . For static metric we can assume the time dependence of alpha and beta of exponential order i.e. $\tilde{\alpha}(r,t) = \alpha(r)e^{\lambda t}$ and $\tilde{\beta}(r,t) = \beta(r)e^{\lambda t}$. Substituting these expressions into equation (3.14) the perturbed conservation law becomes

$$(p_t + \rho)\lambda\alpha e^{\psi - \nu} + (p_r - p_t)\beta' + (p'_r - p'_t)\beta + (p_r - p_t)\beta\left(\nu' + \frac{2R'}{R}\right) = 0 \quad (5.11)$$

This gives us a relation between alpha and beta. Also it can also be seen that metric perturbations are completely decoupled from fluid perturbations. However, unlike perfect fluid case, fluid perturbations are not zero and also anisotropic in nature, as is evident from the presence of factor beta.

The anisotropic nature of fluid changes the behavior of the fluid which leads to fluid excitation by axial perturbations. As can be seen, in the absence of anisotropy in the background fluids, $p_r = 0$ and therefore $\alpha = 0$ which is consistent with the perfect fluid analysis.

5.4 Perturbed Einstein Equations

We had derived the general gauge invariant form of perturbed Einstein Equation. Using these equations, we can now write the perturbed Einstein equation for anisotropic fluids. For convenience of readers, we rewrite the equations (2.14) and (2.15)

$$\frac{1}{R^3} D^b \left[R^4 \left(D_b \left(\frac{F_a}{R} \right) - D_a \left(\frac{F_b}{R} \right) \right) \right] - \frac{m_V}{R^2} F_a = -2\kappa^2 \tau_a \tag{5.12}$$

$$\frac{k_V}{R^2} D_a(RF^a) = -\kappa^2 \tau_T \tag{5.13}$$

For anisotropic case, $R\tau_a = (p_t + \rho)\alpha u_a + (p_r - p_t)\beta s_a$ and $\tau_T = 0$. Thus, for a = t we can rewrite equation (5.12) as

$$Re^{-2\psi} \left[\partial_r \left(\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right) - (\nu' + \psi') \left(\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right) \right] + 4R' e^{-2\psi} \left[\partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) - \partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) \right] - \frac{m_v}{R^2} F_t = \frac{2\kappa^2}{R} \left[(p_t + \rho) \tilde{\alpha} e^{\nu} \right]$$
(5.14)

For a = r equation (5.12) becomes

$$-Re^{-2\nu}\left[\partial_t\left(\partial_t\left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right) - \partial_r\left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right)\right)\right] + R(\dot{\nu} + \dot{\psi})e^{-2\nu}\left[\partial_t\left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right) - \partial_r\left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right)\right]$$
$$-4R\dot{R}e^{-2\nu}\left[\partial_t\left(\frac{F_r}{R}\right) - \partial_r\left(\frac{F_t}{R}\right)\right] - \frac{m_V}{R^2}F_r = -\frac{2\kappa^2}{R}(p_r - p_t)\tilde{\beta}e^{\psi}$$
(5.15)

Similarly we can write the equation (5.13) as

$$-R^{2}\left[e^{-2\nu}\partial_{t}\left(\frac{F_{t}}{R}\right) - e^{-2\psi}\partial_{r}\left(\frac{F_{r}}{R}\right)\right] - 2R\left[\frac{F_{t}}{R}\dot{R}e^{-2\nu} - \frac{F_{r}}{R}R'e^{-2\psi}\right] + R^{2}\left[(\dot{\nu} - \dot{\psi})\frac{F_{t}}{R}e^{-2\nu} - (\psi' - \nu')\frac{F_{r}}{R}e^{-2\psi}\right] = 0$$

$$(5.16)$$

For static metric,s equation (5.14) remains same while equation (5.15) becomes

$$Re^{-2\nu} \left[\partial_t \left(\partial_t \left(\frac{F_r}{R} \right) - \partial_r \left(\frac{F_t}{R} \right) \right) \right] + \frac{m_V}{R^2} F_r = \frac{2\kappa^2}{R} (p_r - p_t) \tilde{\beta} e^{\psi} \qquad (5.17)$$

and equation (5.16) becomes

$$-R^{2}\left[e^{-2\nu}\partial_{t}\left(\frac{F_{t}}{R}\right) - e^{-2\psi}\partial_{r}\left(\frac{F_{r}}{R}\right)\right] + 2R\frac{F_{r}}{R}R'e^{-2\psi} - R^{2}(\psi'-\nu')\frac{F_{r}}{R}e^{-2\psi} = 0$$
(5.18)

We now find the master equation for the anisotropic case. Following the same methodology, as in perfect fluid case, it can be seen that we obtain the same Master equation (equation (4.17)). Simplifying this for the static background metric we get

$$\Omega'' + \left(\nu' - \psi' - \frac{2R'}{R}\right)\Omega' - \left[\frac{m_V}{R^2}e^{2\psi} + \lambda^2 e^{2(\psi-\nu)}\right]\Omega =$$

$$\frac{-2\kappa^2}{m_V}R^2 e^{2\psi}\left[e^{\nu}\left(\alpha(p'+\rho') + (p+\rho)(\alpha'+\nu'\alpha)\right) + e^{\psi}(p_r - p_t)\lambda\beta\right]$$
(5.19)

We make a coordinate change $r^* = \int R^2 e^{\psi - \nu} dr$ in the above equation.

$$\frac{d^2\Omega}{dr^{*2}} - \left[\frac{m_V}{R^2}e^{2\nu} + \lambda^2\right]\frac{\Omega}{R^4} = \frac{-2\kappa^2}{m_V}e^{2\nu+\psi}\left[\left(\frac{dp}{dr^*} + \frac{d\rho}{dr^*}\right)\alpha + (p+\rho)\left(\frac{d\alpha}{dr^*} + \alpha\frac{d\nu}{dr^*}\right) + \lambda\beta(p_r - p_t)\right]$$
(5.20)

We see that we get a set of coupled ordinary differential equations (5.11) and (5.20) for the perturbation variables. Further, the metric perturbations though shown to be independent of fluid perturbations, are intricately coupled. To solve the above equations we need a constraint condition relating alpha and beta.

Let us look at the special case for which perturbations of the anisotropic term (s^{μ}) vanishes. Then from equation (5.11),

$$(p_t + \rho)\lambda\alpha e^{\psi - \nu} = 0$$

which gives $\alpha = 0$. Thus, for the isotropic perturbations, the fluid and metric perturbations completely decouple and fluid perturbations are not excited by the axial perturbations as seen from the above. In this work we study this case further for a naked singularity spacetime. The general case of non zero anisotropic perturbations will be part of later work.

Chapter 6

Example of an anisotropic spacetime and its axial perturbations

In this chapter, we consider a naked singularity spacetime sourced by anisotropic fluid as an example. There are many examples of anistropic spacetimes without such singularities, but a good motivation for choosing this is to investigate, if as expected, naked singularities are unstable. Our formalism will be the first step in such an investigation. In the first section we describe the background spacetime. In the second section we obtain the master equation and convert it to Schrodinger form. We end this chapter with a discussion of the nature of the solution and the stability of the spacetime.

6.1 Background Spacetime

In a recent study [5] of gravitational collapse of anisotropic fluid stellar models, it has been found that equilibrium configurations can arise as a result of such a collapse beginning from regular initial conditions and the resulting static spacetime can be regular or have naked singularities. We use one of these naked singularity spacetimes as our background. For a detailed discussion about this spacetime refer [5]

We choose a Misner Sharp mass function (for static case) defined in the previous chapter of the form $F(r) = M_o r^3$ and $R = cr^3$. Then solution of the Einstein equations gives the functional form of energy density and pressure.

$$\rho = \frac{M_o}{R^2} \tag{6.1}$$

$$p_t = \frac{M_o^2}{4R^2(1 - M_o)} \tag{6.2}$$

where ρ is the energy density of the fluid after collapse and p_t is the corresponding tangential pressure. We work with the fluid for which $p_r = 0$. For $R \to 0$ both tangential pressure and energy density diverge at center showing that R = 0 is a curvature singularity. The resulting spacetime consists of an interior metric inside a spherical ball of fluid matched to a Schwarzschild exterior. When $M_o < 1$ we do not have a horizon and this is favoured by reasonable assumptions (e.g., energy conditions etc.) on the fluid. In that case the above singularity becomes a naked singularity. The spacetime is then given by

$$ds^{2} = -(1 - M_{o}) \left(\frac{R}{R_{b}}\right)^{\frac{M_{o}}{1 - M_{o}}} dt^{2} + \frac{dR^{2}}{1 - M_{o}} + R^{2} d\Omega^{2}$$
(6.3)

where $M_o = 2M_{Total}/R_b$ and $R < R_b$. As in the previous chapters, R_b is the physical radius of the boundary of the final equilibrium state and M_{Total} is total mass at the boundary. This spacetime is a final state of collapse and hence static. Thus, exterior metric (for $R > R_b$) is given by the Schwarzschild metric which can be written as

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{M_{o}R_{b}}{R}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{M_{o}R_{b}}{R}\right)^{-1}dR^{2} + R^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$

It can be seen that equation (6.3) reduces to the Schwarzschild metric for $R \to R_b$ and thus it is continuous at the boundary.

6.2 Master Equation

We can now use the formalism developed in previous chapters to find the master equation for our background spacetime. The non zero Christoffels of the Lorentzian metric are following:

$$\Gamma_{10}^{0} = \Gamma_{01}^{0} = \left(\frac{M_{o}}{1 - M_{o}}\right) \frac{1}{2R}$$
$$\Gamma_{00}^{1} = \frac{M_{o}(1 - M_{o})}{2R} \left(\frac{R}{R_{b}}\right)^{\frac{M_{o}}{1 - M_{o}}}$$

The master equation in covariant form is (equation (4.17)):

$$R^{2}D_{a}\left(\frac{1}{R^{2}}D^{a}\tilde{\Omega}\right) - \frac{m_{V}}{R^{2}}\tilde{\Omega} = -\frac{2\kappa^{2}}{m_{V}}R^{2}\epsilon^{ab}D_{a}(R\tau_{b})$$

Let $\tilde{\Omega}(R,t) = \Omega(R)e^{\lambda t}$ and let prime denote the derivative w.r.t R. The master equation for the naked singularity spacetime is

$$(1 - M_{o}) \Omega'' + \left[\frac{M_{o}}{2R} - \frac{2(1 - M_{o})}{R}\right] \Omega' - \left[\frac{\lambda^{2}}{1 - M_{o}} \left(\frac{R_{b}}{R}\right)^{\frac{M_{o}}{1 - M_{o}}} + \frac{m_{V}}{R^{2}}\right] \Omega = \frac{2\kappa^{2}}{m_{V}} R^{2} \left[\frac{\lambda M_{0}^{2}}{4R^{2}(1 - M_{0})^{\frac{5}{2}}}\beta - (1 - M_{o})^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{R}{R_{b}}\right)^{\frac{M_{o}}{2(1 - M_{o})}} \left[(p_{t} + \rho)\frac{\alpha M_{o}}{2R(1 - M_{o})} + \partial_{r}\left((p_{t} + \rho)\alpha\right)\right]\right]$$
(6.4)

We consider special perturbations in which the anisotropy direction is not perturbed i.e. $\beta = 0$. Again from the conservation equation it can be seen that for this case $\alpha = 0$. Then the RHS of the master equation vanishes and it reduces to

$$(1 - M_o)\,\Omega'' + \left[\frac{M_o}{2R} - \frac{2(1 - M_o)}{R}\right]\Omega' - \left[\frac{\lambda^2}{1 - M_o}\left(\frac{R_b}{R}\right)^{\frac{M_o}{1 - M_o}} + \frac{m_V}{R^2}\right]\Omega = 0$$
(6.5)

This is the master equation for our naked singularity spacetime. This is only valid for $R < R_b$. For $R > R_b$, we look at the Schwarzschild master equation:

$$\left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right)\Omega'' + \left(\frac{3M_o R_b}{R} - 2\right)\frac{\Omega'}{R} - \left[\left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right)^{-1}\lambda^2 + \frac{m_V}{R^2}\right]\Omega = 0$$
(6.6)

6.2.1 Regge Wheeler Equation

In 1957, Regge and Wheeler used the gravitational perturbation method to show the stability of the Schwarzschild singularity. They obtained a Schrodinger type equation for axial perturbations also know as Regge Wheeler equation. For our case the exterior metric is Schwarzschild. We here show that master equation derived for Schwarzschild metric effectively reduces to the Regge Wheeler equation. The master equation for the exterior case is given by equation(6.6). We change our perturbation variable from Ω to Φ defined by $\Omega = R\Phi$. We can write the Master equation for Schrodinger case $(R > R_b)$ in terms of perturbation variable Φ

$$\left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right) \Phi'' + \frac{M_o R_b}{R^2} \Phi' - \left[\left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right)^{-1} \lambda^2 + \frac{l(l+1)}{R^2} - \frac{3M_o R_b}{R^3}\right] \Phi = 0$$
(6.7)

This is a second order ODE of the form y'' + P(x)y' + Q(x)y = 0. This can be converted to Sturm Liouville form by multiplying it with an integrating factor. We change the variable from R to $d\tilde{R} = (1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R})^{-1} dR$. Replacing R from above equation we get the Regge Wheeler equation:

$$\frac{d^2}{d\tilde{R}^2}(\Phi) - \left[\lambda^2 + \left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right) \left(\frac{l(l+1)}{R^2} - \frac{3M_o R_b}{R^3}\right)\right] \Phi = 0 \qquad (6.8)$$

which can again be written as

$$\left(-\frac{d^2}{d\tilde{R}^2} + V_2(R)\right)\Phi = 0$$

where the potential is given by

$$V_2(R) = \left[\lambda^2 + \left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right) \left(\frac{l(l+1)}{R^2} - \frac{3M_o R_b}{R^3}\right)\right]$$

6.2.2 Equation for Ω in Schrödinger form

Let us now use the formalism developed in section 5.4. We rewrite the master equation for the interior and the exterior case to obtain a Schrodinger type equation. The master equation for the interior is given by equation (6.5) while for the exterior its given by equation (6.6). We use a change of variable from R to \tilde{r} as introduced in section 5.4. For interior $(R < R_b)$,

$$d\tilde{r} = \frac{R^2}{1 - M_o} \left(\frac{R_b}{R}\right)^{\frac{M_o}{2(1 - M_o)}} dR$$

which on integration gives

$$R = (k\tilde{r})^{\frac{2(1-M_o)}{6-7M_o}}; \ k = \frac{6-7M_o}{2}R_b^{-\frac{M_o}{2(1-M_o)}}$$

while for the exterior $(R > R_b)$ its given by

$$d\tilde{r} = R^2 \left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R}\right)^{-1} dR$$

which can be integrated to give

$$\tilde{r} = \frac{R^3}{3} + \frac{M_o R_b R^2}{2} + M_o^2 R_b^2 R + M_o^3 R_b^3 ln(R - M_o R_b) + C$$

where C is a constant of integation. It can be seen that this coordinate change is continuous at R_b and at $R = R_b$, $d\tilde{r} = \frac{R_b^2}{1-M_o}dR$. With the following

coordinate change the master equations takes the Schrodinger equation form. In general it can be represented by

$$-\frac{d^2\Omega}{d\tilde{r}^2} + V(R)\Omega = 0 \tag{6.9}$$

where potential term V for interior is given by

$$V(R) = V_1 \qquad R < R_b = V_2 \qquad R \ge R_b$$
(6.10)

where

$$V_1 = \frac{\lambda^2}{R^4} + \frac{m_V(1 - M_o)}{R^6} \left(\frac{R}{R_b}\right)^{\frac{M_o}{1 - M_o}}$$
(6.11)

$$V_2 = \frac{\lambda^2}{R^4} + \frac{m_V}{R^6} \left(1 - \frac{M_o R_b}{R} \right)$$
(6.12)

These potential can be expressed in terms of \tilde{r} using the transformations given above.

6.3 Nature of the Solution

To solve the master equation, we need to impose some boundary conditions. We choose the boundary conditions that solutions vanish for $R \to 0$ and are continuous at infinity. Let's consider the Schrödinger type equation for the interior. This is a Schrödinger type equation with zero eigen value. Let Ψ be any general solution of Ω . Then it will satisfy this equation.

$$-\frac{d^2\Psi(\tilde{r})}{d\tilde{r}^2} + V(\tilde{r})\Psi(\tilde{r}) = 0$$

Outgoing solution : We now look at realistic class of solutions. The Schrödinger equation for $R < R_b$ is

$$\frac{d^2}{d\tilde{r}^2}(\Omega) - \left[\frac{\lambda^2}{(k\tilde{r})^{\frac{8(1-M_o)}{6-7M_o}}} + \frac{m_V(1-M_o)}{R_b^{\frac{M_o}{1-M_o}}}\frac{1}{(k\tilde{r})^2}\right]\Omega = 0$$

where $k = \frac{6-7M_o}{2} R_b^{-\frac{M_o}{2(1-M_o)}}$. Let Ψ be a solution of this equation. Then, this can be rewritten as

$$-\frac{d^2\Psi(\tilde{r})}{d\tilde{r}^2} + \left(\frac{K_1}{\tilde{r}^f} + \frac{K_2}{\tilde{r}^2}\right)\Psi(\tilde{r}) = 0$$

where $f = \frac{8(1-M_o)}{6-7M_o}$, $K_1 = \frac{\lambda^2}{k^f}$ and $K_2 = \frac{m_V(1-M_o)}{k^2} R_b^{\frac{-M_o}{1-M_o}}$

Let us look at the behavior of this equation at the boundaries. The boundary is defined by R = 0. From the transformation we can see that the corresponding boundary in the new coordinate is

1. $\tilde{r} \to 0$ if $6 - 7M_o > 0$ 2. $\tilde{r} \to \infty$ if $6 - 7M_o < 0$

Consider the first condition. In the limit of \tilde{r} tending to zero, both \tilde{r}^{-2} or \tilde{r}^{-f} tend to infinity but one of them will dominate over the other.

Case I: If $0 < M_o < \frac{2}{3}$, \tilde{r}^{-2} dominates. Case II: If $\frac{2}{3} < M_o < \frac{6}{7}$, \tilde{r}^{-f} dominates

For the second condition, it can be seen that \tilde{r}^{-f} dominates as f becomes negative for this case and $\tilde{r} \to \infty$.

Case 1: $0 < M_o < \frac{2}{3}$

In this region, \tilde{r}^{-2} dominates and hence near $\tilde{r} \to 0$ boundary our Schrödinger type equation becomes:

$$-\frac{d^2\Psi(\tilde{r})}{d\tilde{r}^2} + \frac{K_2}{\tilde{r}^2}\Psi(\tilde{r}) = 0$$

Ansatz: $\Psi(\tilde{r}) = \tilde{r}^p$. Plugging this in the above equation, we get two roots of p:

$$p_{1} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}(1 + 4K_{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} > 0$$

$$p_{2} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}(1 + 4K_{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} < 0$$
(6.13)

The general solution is $\Psi(\tilde{r}) = c_1 \tilde{r}^{p_1} + c_2 \tilde{r}^{p_2}$. For $r \to 0, r^{-|p_2|} \to \infty$ hence $c_2 = 0$.

Case 2: $\frac{2}{3} < M_o < 1$

For this case, the first term of the potential \tilde{r}^{-f} dominates. Hence the equation becomes

$$\frac{d^2\Psi(\tilde{r})}{d\tilde{r}^2} - \frac{K_1}{\tilde{r}^f}\Psi(\tilde{r}) = 0$$

We can obtain solutions to this equation using Frobenius method if f is a rational number. However if f is an irrational number, Frobenius method does not apply and we need to find some alternate way to obtain the general solution to this equation. We solve this equation for p < q. The other case can be solved in a similar manner.

Ansatz: $\Psi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \tilde{r}^{\frac{n}{q}}$. Substituting in the Schrödinger equation we have,

$$\sum_{n=-2q}^{-p-1} \left(\frac{n}{q}+2\right) \left(\frac{n}{q}+1\right) a_{n+2q} \tilde{r}^{\frac{n}{q}} + \sum_{m=-p}^{\infty} \left[\left(\frac{m}{q}+2\right) \left(\frac{m}{q}+1\right) a_{m+2q} - K_1 a_{m+p}\right] \tilde{r}^{\frac{m}{q}} = 0$$

This implies that

$$\left(\frac{n}{q}+2\right)\left(\frac{n}{q}+1\right)a_{n+2q}=0 \qquad \forall n \in (-2q,-p-1)$$

Thus, we have either a_0 or a_q as arbitrary depending on the choice of n and rest a_n are zero where m is from 1 to 2q - (p+1). We can choose a_o as the independent parameter by keeping n = -2q. Recurrence relation is

$$a_{m+2q} = \frac{K_1 a_{m+p}}{(\frac{m}{q}+2)(\frac{m}{q}+1)}; \quad m = -p, -p+1, \dots$$

Let us consider an example. Let $M_o = \frac{2}{5}$. This gives p = 3 and q = 2. Substituting in the above equations we get either a_o or a_2 as arbitrary. We choose n = -4, so $a_2 = 0$. The recurrence relation gives:

$$a_{m+4} = \frac{K_1 a_{m+3}}{(\frac{m}{2}+2)(\frac{m}{2}+1)}; \quad m = -3, -2, -1...$$

Ratio test:

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \left| \frac{a_{q+1}}{a_q} \right| = \lim_{q \to \infty} \frac{4K_1}{q^2 - 1} \to 0$$

Hence we have a converging series with radius of convergence as infinite.

$$\Psi = a_0(1 - 4K_1\tilde{r}^{\frac{1}{2}})$$

For r approaching zero, this solution converges to a_o while the derivative diverges to negative infinity.

Let us now look at the solutions for the exterior case. The exterior of the star is given by Schwarzschild metric for which the perturbation can be described by equation (6.17) and (6.20). For $R \to \infty$, the master equation (6.5) becomes

$$\Omega'' - \frac{2\Omega'}{R} + \omega^2 \Omega = 0$$

where we have assumed $\lambda = i\omega$ since we are now look for wave like solutions. To obtain solution for this case we change our variable from R to x defined as $R = \frac{1}{x}$. The above equation becomes

$$\Omega'' + \frac{4\Omega'}{x} + \frac{\omega^2}{x^4}\Omega = 0$$

where the prime(') now denotes derivative wrt. x. This is a standard differential equation solution of the form

$$xy'' + ay' + bx^n y = 0$$

general solution of which are given by

$$y = x^{\frac{1-a}{2}} \left[C_1 J_{\nu} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{b}}{n+1} x^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \right) + C_2 Y_{\nu} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{b}}{n+1} x^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \right) \right]$$

where $n \neq -1$, $b \neq 0$, $\nu = \frac{|1-a|}{n+1}$. In our case n = -3, a = 4, $b = \omega^2$ and $\nu = \frac{-3}{2}$. Thus solution for our case becomes $\Omega = x^{\frac{-3}{2}} \left[c_1 J_{\frac{-3}{2}} \left(\frac{-\omega}{x} \right) + c_2 Y_{\frac{-3}{2}} \left(\frac{-\omega}{x} \right) \right]$ For $R \to \infty$, this solution reduces to

$$\Omega = \frac{1}{x} \left[c_1 \sin \frac{\omega}{x} + c_2 \cos \frac{\omega}{x} \right]$$

where c_1 and c_2 are some constants. In terms of R, the solution is

$$\Omega = R \left[c_1 \sin \omega R + c_2 \cos \omega R \right]$$

In terms of Regge Wheeler master variable Φ , the solution becomes

$$\Phi = [c_1 \sin \omega R + c_2 \cos \omega R]$$

which matches with the solution given by the Regge Wheeler [6]. Thus we have wave solutions.

Conclusions

In this work, we explored the stability issues of spherically symmetric spacetimes sourced by anisotropic fluid. The initial problem is set up by studying the behavior of axial perturbations. To remove the gauge ambiguity, this problem is developed in a gauge invariant form. We then derive the master equation governing the behavior of perturbations, thus reducing the coupled Einstein equations into a single ordinary differential equation. We have further shown that for special cases, this differential equation can be reduced to a Schrodinger type equation.

We find that fluid perturbations are independent of the metric perturbations. However unlike the perfect fluid case, the fluid perturbations remain anisotropic in nature and hence can be non zero in general. These will thus contribute in the master equation. However, if we assume perturbations which do not change the direction of anisotropy, then fluid perturbations vanish showing that anisotropic fluids do not then excite axial perturbations. We have also analyzed a static solutions(naked singularity) as a result of anisotropic fluid collapse where the fluid has zero radial pressure. We compute the nature of the solutions close to the naked singularity and asymptotically at infinity.

This project can be expanded into various directions. The first extension to this work would be to complete the stability analysis of spacetime example dealt in chapter 6 by obtaining approximate solutions in the interior and the exterior and matching the two solutions at the fluid boundary. The questions of interest in this problem are (in)stability of naked singularity as well as quasi-normal modes of this spacetime. The question is whether the spectrum of these modes would be different from that of the star or Schwarzschild black hole. Another direction would be to repeat the analysis of this thesis to polar perturbation of anisotropic fluids. Lastly we would like to consider perturbing the direction of anisotropy as well (i.e. $\beta \neq 0$) which would lead to shear viscosity terms in energy momentum tensor.

References

- S. Chandrasekhar, V. Ferrari, On the non-radial oscillations of a star, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series A: Mathematical, Physical & Engineering Sciences 432 (1885) (1991) 247-279.
- [2] M. R. Finch, J. E. Skea, A review of the relativistic static fluid sphere, preprint available on the World Wide Web at http://edradour.symbcomp. uerj. br/pubs. html.
- S. Chandrasekhar, Selected Papers, Volume 7: The Non-Radial Oscillations of Stars in General Relativity and Other Writings, Chandrasekhar, S. Selections. V. 7, University of Chicago Press, 1997. URL http://books.google.co.in/books?id=JShWet0axeAC
- [4] P. S. Florides, A new interior schwarzschild solution, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 337 (1611) (1974) 529-535.
- P. S. Joshi, D. Malafarina, R. Narayan, Equilibrium configurations from gravitational collapse, Class.Quant.Grav. 28 (2011) 235018. arXiv: 1106.5438, doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/23/235018.
- [6] T. Regge, J. A. Wheeler, Stability of a schwarzschild singularity, Phys. Rev. 108 (1957) 1063-1069. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.108.1063. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.108.1063
- U. H. Gerlach, U. K. Sengupta, Gauge-invariant perturbations on most general spherically symmetric space-times, Physical Review D 19 (8) (1979) 2268.
- [8] U. H. Gerlach, U. K. Sengupta, Junction conditions for odd-parity perturbations on most general spherically symmetric space-times, Physical Review D 20 (12) (1979) 3009.

- [9] U. H. Gerlach, U. K. Sengupta, Even parity junction conditions for perturbations on most general spherically symmetric spaceâĂŞtimes, Journal of Mathematical Physics 20 (12).
- [10] S. Mukohyama, Gauge invariant gravitational perturbations of maximally symmetric space-times, Phys.Rev. D62 (2000) 084015. arXiv: hep-th/0004067, doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.62.084015.
- H. Kodama, A. Ishibashi, A Master equation for gravitational perturbations of maximally symmetric black holes in higher dimensions, Prog.Theor.Phys. 110 (2003) 701-722. arXiv:hep-th/0305147, doi: 10.1143/PTP.110.701.
- [12] R. A. Janik, P. Witaszczyk, Towards the description of anisotropic plasma at strong coupling, JHEP 0809 (2008) 026. arXiv:0806.2141, doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/09/026.
- [13] D. Mateos, D. Trancanelli, Anisotropic <math display="inline"><mi mathvariant="bold-script"></mi><mo>=</mo><mn>4</mn></math> super-yang-mills plasma and its instabilities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 101601. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.101601. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.101601
- H. Kodama, A. Ishibashi, Master equations for perturbations of generalized static black holes with charge in higher dimensions, Prog.Theor.Phys. 111 (2004) 29-73. arXiv:hep-th/0308128, doi: 10.1143/PTP.111.29.
- [15] R. H. Brandenberger, Lectures on the theory of cosmological perturbations, Lect.Notes Phys. 646 (2004) 127-167. arXiv:hep-th/0306071.
- S. Chandrasekhar, Dynamical instability of gaseous masses approaching the schwarzschild limit in general relativity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 12 (1964) 114-116. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.12.114.
 URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.12.114
- [17] S. Chandrasekhar, Dynamical instability of gaseous masses approaching the schwarzschild limit in general relativity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 12 (1964) 437-438. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.12.437.2. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.12.437.2
- [18] L. Lindblom, W. A. Hiscock, On the stability of rotating stellar models in general relativity theory, The Astrophysical Journal 267 (1983) 384.

- [19] A. Ishibashi, H. Kodama, Perturbations and Stability of Static Black Holes in Higher Dimensions, Prog.Theor.Phys.Suppl. 189 (2011) 165-209. arXiv:1103.6148, doi:10.1143/PTPS.189.165.
- [20] H. Kodama, M. Sasaki, Cosmological perturbation theory, Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement 78 (1984) 1–166.
- [21] H. Kodama, A. Ishibashi, O. Seto, Brane world cosmology: Gaugeinvariant formalism for perturbation, Physical Review D 62 (6) (2000) 064022.
- [22] N. Andersson, G. L. Comer, Relativistic fluid dynamics: Physics for many different scales, Living Reviews in Relativity 10 (1). doi:10. 12942/lrr-2007-1. URL http://www.livingreviews.org/lrr-2007-1
- J. R. Oppenheimer, H. Snyder, On continued gravitational contraction, Phys. Rev. 56 (1939) 455-459. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.56.455.
 URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.56.455
- [24] M. Delgaty, K. Lake, Physical acceptability of isolated, static, spherically symmetric, perfect fluid solutions of Einstein's equations, Comput.Phys.Commun. 115 (1998) 395-415. arXiv:gr-qc/9809013, doi: 10.1016/S0010-4655(98)00130-1.
- [25] L. D. Landau, Fluid mechanics, Pergamon Press, Oxford, England New York, 1987.
- [26] J. A. Font, Numerical hydrodynamics in general relativity, Living Reviews in Relativity 6 (4). doi:10.12942/lrr-2003-4.
 URL http://www.livingreviews.org/lrr-2003-4
- [27] E. Poisson, A Relativist's Toolkit: The Mathematics of Black-Hole Mechanics, Cambridge University Press, 2007.
 URL http://books.google.co.in/books?id=5_WaPwAACAAJ
- [28] B. Schutz, A first course in general relativity, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge New York, 2009.
- [29] C. W. Misner, D. H. Sharp, Relativistic equations for adiabatic, spherically symmetric gravitational collapse, Phys. Rev. 136 (1964) B571-B576. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.136.B571. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.136.B571

[30] M. Mak, T. Harko, Anisotropic stars in general relativity, Proc.Roy.Soc.Lond. A459 (2003) 393-408. arXiv:gr-qc/0110103, doi: 10.1098/rspa.2002.1014.